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At the end of the Second World War, modern Japan was not even a century old yet the rebuilding of the country socially, politically, economically and physically required such extensive change that a severance from the Imperial past was inevitable and, for many, necessary. Whereas the war in Europe had left many cities, like Coventry, Dresden and Berlin devastated, their ruins were, to some extent, inhabitable. In Japan the situation was rather different. The timber construction which characterised the domestic housing stock had laid the cities open to total conflagration by incendiary and, ultimately, atomic bombing. Nagaoka was razed in less than three hours on the night of 1 August 1945; Hiroshima in less than three minutes barely five days later.
  Indeed, the Ministry of Construction estimated that, nationwide, 2.1 million dwellings had been lost and a further 55,000 pulled down to create firebreaks. 
  

The rebuilding of Japan in the post-war years extended, of course, far beyond replacing the housing stock. The American occupation continued until April 1952
 and the subsequent reorganisation of the government led to the building of a great number of new civic buildings. As public buildings they needed to be symbolic and it was around these buildings, and the architects who built them, that, in the 1950s, a debate on Tradition and Modernity developed. 

Despite the dominance of the traditionalist Imperial Crown Style, Modern architecture had made its mark in pre-war Japan.
  Modernism, when it did appear, was very much in the manner of what Henry-Russell Hitchcock and Philip Johnson called the International Style, characterized by ‘an effect of volume, or more accurately, of plane surfaces bounding a volume’
  and ‘interiors which open up into one another without definite circumscribing partitions.’
  These qualities, which pretty well describe late-Edo period architecture, suggested that the influence of Japanese architecture on the West was coming full circle. The Czechoslovak/American architect, Antonin Raymond, who had come to Japan with Frank Lloyd Wright in 1919 to build the Imperial Hotel in Tokyo, had immediately recognised this:

Imagine my surprise on arriving in Japan to find here expressed in Japanese farms and Shinto shrines like Ise, all the features which we so ardently desired to re-create in the new architecture. A Japanese farm at the time of my arrival in Japan forty years ago was a marvel of integration, complete, and perhaps not to be found anywhere else in the world. It grew out of the ground like a mushroom or a tree, natural and true, it developed from the inside function absolutely honestly; all structural members were expressed positively on the outside, the structure itself was the finish and the only ornament, all material was natural, selected and worked by true artist artisans; everything in it and around it was simple, direct, functional, economical … It contained absolute principles, which always were and always will be the same, immutable, unchangeable and which must guide us in trying to attain true beauty in architectural design.

A two-way dialogue in Modern architecture can be identified, at this time, between Japan and the West. Western architects came to Japan — Richard Neutra in 1931, Bruno Taut in 1933, and Walter Gropius in 1954, when he was captivated by the Katsura Detached Palace and its ‘sublime, mature solutions of the intricate problems of space and human scale  — the very media for the art of architectural creation.’
  Japanese architects similarly travelled to Europe. Kunio Maekawa and Junzo Sakakura both worked for Le Corbusier (first Maekawa between 1928 and 1930, followed by Sakakura from 1931 to 1936), Bunzo Yamaguchi worked for Walter Gropius, and Takehiko Mizutani and Isamu Yamawaki both studied at the Bauhaus.
 Sutemi Horiguchi had visited the Bauhaus in 1923 and on his return from Europe published a book on Modern Dutch Architecture. Thus it was that Horiguchi could write:

In those days the only new ‘Japanese-style’ buildings were no more than reinforced concrete affairs topped with temple roofs or made up to look like old castles. I hated buildings of this sort and the kind of thinking that was responsible for them. I wanted to create a type of architecture in which the materials were allowed to create their own natural beauty, and even when searching for this in the architecture of the past, I attempted to adopt a new point of view. To my surprise, I found in the tea ceremony — that same tea ceremony that people thought so peculiar at the time — a modern frankness and directness of the sort I had been looking for.

A similar position was taken by Maekawa in 1931, on the occasion of the Tokyo Imperial Household Museum competition. The entry requirements had stipulated that designs should be ‘in an Eastern style that is based upon Japanese taste.’
 Maekawa, who was now working for Raymond,
 argued for a new architecture:

There are two paths. Shall we use a sham traditional style which insults the glories of the past three thousand years and attempts to deceive the people?  Or shall we build a simple, honest, straightforward museum that will be a genuine continuation of our culture?  Clearly the latter path is the one for Japan to follow … 

Maekawa’s entry, based upon Le Corbusier’s League of Nations scheme, was unsuccessful, the winning design by Jin Watanabe being a Western-style building with Japanese decorative features:  just the sort of design Maekawa condemned.
   

Although Frank Lloyd Wright’s Imperial Hotel in Tokyo had famously survived the 1923 earthquake,
 the dominant Western influence between the Wars was European Modernism, whether Dutch de Stijl,
 German Bauhaus
 or Expressionism,
 or Le Corbusian rationalism.
  Wright's architecture, it would seem, was either too rich or too idiosyncratic. The Imperial Hotel (1916-22) displayed the same exuberance of style as his recently completed Midway Gardens in Chicago (1914) while the Tazaemon Yamamura house in Ashiya (1924) was in the manner of the Aline Barnsdall ‘Hollyhock’ House in Los Angeles (1919-21). This has been associated by Alice T Friedman,
 amongst others, with Mayan or pueblo building but, as Kevin Nute has pointed out, the Dutch architect Henrik Berlage, writing in Wendingen in 1925, saw in it something much more Japanese.
  This is a point which Nute does not explore but nevertheless the resemblance in the massing between the roof of the living-room at the Barnsdall House and, for example, the main hall (Miei-do) of the Chion-in Temple in Kyoto, which Wright visited and photographed in 1905, is noticeable.

The common supposition that much post-war Japanese architecture is indebted to Le Corbusier is hard to dispel. His influence in Japan, as in the western world, was considerable. Furthermore, Maekawa and Sakakura, as noted, had both worked for him in Paris as had Takamasa Yoshizaka, for two years from 1950. So when Le Corbusier came to build the National Museum of Western Art in Ueno Park, Tokyo (1959), they assisted in its completion. The first of these three to break ranks, as it were, and to build a modern Japanese building of note was Sakakura, who designed the prize-winning Japanese Pavilion at the 1937 Paris Exposition Internationale des Arts et Techniques dans la Vie Moderne. Here was a taste of things to come for, despite being openly modern, it was imbued with traditional Japanese qualities which encouraged the architect Serge Chermayeff to write in The Architectural Review that:


… the national characteristics prevail, although they suggest a curious Japan-via-Europe-via-Japan origin. Japanese elegance in wood construction is expressed through steel.

It is in the ramp that Chermayeff sees Sakakura’s greatest indebtedness to Le Corbusier whose nearby Pavillon des Temps Nouveaux was similarly ramped:


… both Corbusier and his late pupil Sakakura have acted upon Corbusier's dictum that 'stairs are the enemy of the public,' and have employed ramps exclusively … [but] … Whereas Corbusier uses ramps as part of the exhibition space, Sakakura frankly treats them as a means of communication only between structurally clearly separated elements and finishes with an exit ramp from the restaurant placed logically and simply outside his building but woven delightfully into the garden pattern.

Such structural clarity and separation was very Japanese. A comparison of the plan of the Japanese Pavilion with traditional houses of the late-Edo or Meiji period demonstrates a fragility in their construction derived from the use of a small, rectilinear grid and thin columns, a degree of flexibility and a sense of aggregation in their arrangement. Neither, one senses, are ever complete. Le Corbusier’s use of the ramp at the Pavillon des Temps Nouveaux, by comparison, was much more in the manner of his Villa Savoye at Poissy, completed six years earlier — concrete, robust and inflexible. 
It was here at the 1937 Paris Exposition that the fifth meeting of CIAM (Congrès Internationaux d’Architecture Moderne) was held. Junzo Sakakura was the one delegate from Japan. Others at the conference included Le Corbusier, Siegfried Giedion (who was secretary-general), Bruno Taut and the Richard Neutra. CIAM was the vehicle by which the more radical Modernists in Japan retained their connections with the architectural avante garde and introduced their work to the west. Maekawa accompanied Le Corbusier, for whom he was then working, to the second CIAM meeting held in Frankfurt in 1929. But, with the exception of Sakakura in Paris in 1937, there appear to have been no further Japanese present at CIAM meetings until after the war. In 1949, Isamo Noguchi attended the seventh meeting in Bergamo and two years later, in 1951, Maekawa and his former assistant, Kenzo Tange,
 were the Japanese delegates to the eighth meeting at Hoddesdon. In 1956 Tange, Sakakura and Ryuichi Hamaguchi were invited to CIAM 10 in Dubrovnik and Tange returned again for what transpired to be the last CIAM meeting, held in Otterlo in the Netherlands, in 1959, where he was joined by Yoshizaka. 
Kenzo Tange was only 37 when he presented his design for the Peace Park at Hiroshima to the eighth CIAM meeting at Hoddesdon. The theme for the meeting was “The Heart of the City” or “The Urban Core” and Tange’s proposals for Hiroshima were the first designs ever presented by a non-western architect to CIAM. The meeting was organised by the British chapter of CIAM, the MARS Group (Modern Architectural Research Group), and included a presentation of Donald Gibson’s scheme for the rebuilding of Coventry. The core members, Giedion, Le Corbusier, Walter Gropius and Josep Lluis Sert were there, as were Serge Chermayeff, Philip Johnson, Ernesto Rogers and others. In all, twenty-two countries sent delegates. It was a significant stage for this young man from Japan to perform upon.

Tange had won the competition for the Peace Centre at Hiroshima in 1949. [Illustration 1]  It was a simple concept:  the centre-piece was a long pavilion raised on Corbusian pilotis was set across the axis which connected the Memorial Monument, a saddle-like structure based on the Haniwa funerary house of the 3rd to 6th century AD, with the torn and melted Gembaku or Atomic Dome, just beyond which the bomb had been detonated. It was, as the Australian architect and critic Robin Boyd wrote in his 1962 book on Tange, ‘a long, strong pavilion that looked entirely modern and yet had a curiously evocative Japanese touch.’
  Tange had originally intended the pavilion, which was to serve as the Peace Museum, to be flanked by an hotel and auditorium on one side and a conference centre on the other. In the event what was built was not to his design but the integrity of the urban planning was retained.

The Peace Museum’s modernism is easy enough to recognise:  the board-marked concrete, the piloti, even the suggestion of a ribbon window in the great louvred façade. Its sources are Corbusian but, as Boyd suggested, there is something curiously Japanese about it. It is not just in the way the building is raised off the ground and the manner in which the strength of its supports invites comparisons with early treasure houses and shrines; nor in the way that the louvred façade begins to read like a shoji screen which can be slid back to expose the interior; but — and perhaps most importantly — it is also in the way that the view through the building to the Memorial Monument, the Atomic Dome and ultimately to the hills themselves exposes a borrowed landscape. 

Traditional references might be expected in a building as evocative as this, but if Tange made gentle references in this building, those he made in the next buildings he presented to CAIM were much more obvious. It was at Otterlo in 1959 that Tange showed his Tokyo City Hall, completed in 1957 but since demolished, and the Kagawa Prefectural Government Offices in Takamatsu, completed the following year. The Italian architect Ernesto Rogers, whose historically referential Torre Velasca had recently been built in Milan, responded positively but the British architects, Alison and Peter Smithson, whose reputation as young Turks was based upon the Secondary Modern School at Hunstanton, Norfolk (1954), and who subsequently did much to disrupt the final CIAM meeting, argued that modern architecture should not be backward looking and that Tange’s ability to connect his work to Japanese traditions was not available to members of other cultures. They thought it an accident of history that the openness of historic Japanese architecture corresponded to the open aesthetic of modern architecture. They were, however, not altogether correct in this assertion, for the modernism which was being imported into Japan in many ways had its roots there. 

The Corbusian qualities of the Tokyo City Hall are immediately obvious, for the source is the Cité de Refuge or Salvation Army building in Paris (1933). Interestingly, Tange’s City Hall does not pick up on the original design for that building, which employed a curtain wall façade, but on the brise soleil of the reworked elevation. This was completed in 1952 and must have been on the drawing board when Tange came to the 1951 CIAM meeting in Hoddesdon and subsequently visited Paris, with Maekawa. Yet there is also, in the heavily expressive concrete structure and the lightweight, almost screen-like treatment of the City Hall’s main façade, something recogniseably Japanese. As Robin Boyd observed in his book:


When ‘the smell of tradition’ enters Tange's work in the involuntary sort of way that it has a habit of doing, he is probably contributing more than he realizes. On the other hand, when he allows the Le Corbusier influence to dominate too strongly, he is not notably assisting Japan to find its own popular branch culture in the modern world.
   

The Kagawa Prefectural Government Offices, on the other hand, seems to avoid any Corbusian suggestions and reads like a concrete interpretation of a great wooden temple, such as the Todaiji and its gateways at Nara. [Illustration 2]    Here, in the largest timber building in the world, great beam ends overhang and protrude in the same way as the reinforced concrete structure does at Takamatsu. Here Tange’s obvious expression of timber construction is not drawn from Le Corbusier but from Japanese sources. 

Le Corbusier’s first visit to Japan was not until 1955, yet through Meakawa, Sakakara and Yoshizaka , and others, he would have been aware of Japanese architecture. What gave Tange’s pilotis at the Hiroshima Peace Centre such a Corbusian feel was not just their positioning but also the impression in the concrete surface of the timber shuttering, the board marks which are characteristic of Le Corbusier’s work. Yet when one considers the 32 great timber columns within the Todaiji at Nara, each about 14m high and comprising sixteen vertical planks, each about 275mm wide and held by nails and great iron bands at 3m intervals, the idea of board-marked concrete comes quickly to mind. In a country where timber construction was the norm, the adoption of the Corbusian style of board-marked concrete would have appeared neither too radical nor too modern. Indeed, the advantages it had in seismic design made it a material of choice for larger buildings and so it quickly became, in the later 1950s and 1960s, the norm.

The extent to which Le Corbusier’s relationship with Japanese architecture was a two-way affair is still to be determined. It is worth noting, however, that it was while Takamasa Yoshizaka was working in his Paris office that Le Corbusier published, in 1950, his proportioning system Le Modulor. Based upon the human body and the Fibonacci sequence,
 this theory has obvious resonances with the harmonic proportions of Japanese architecture, so much so that the journal Kenchku Bunka published a cartoon in 1965 showing the Modulor, depicted as a figure with an arm upraised, displayed in the tokonoma, an alcove traditionally regarded as the highpoint of the Japanese house. While in the office, Yoshizaka translated Le Modulor into Japanese and the Japanese edition was published in 1952, the first foreign language edition to appear. It was exactly at this time that Le Corbusier built his little timber cabanon at Cap-Martin in the south of France. Measuring 3.66m by 3.66m, the Petit Cabanon was 2.26m high, the height of the Modulor man with his arm upraised. The plan, curiously enough, was the equivalent of a Japanese eight-mat tatami room, and the similarity of arrangement to a soan tea-house cannot be ignored. 
In the allusions to Japanese architectural forms which had appeared in his buildings as early as the Peace Museum at Hiroshima, Tange had touched upon two fundamental yet distinctive traditions. The first was that of the azekura style, best seen at the eighth-century Shosoin (Treasure House) at Nara. Constructed, like a log cabin, out of heavy logs and raised off the ground under an overhanging roof, it was solid and robust and offered a type of architecture which could be reinterpreted in concrete. The second historic allusion which Tange made at Hiroshima was to the lightweight frame structures of the shoin style best seen at the Katsura Detached Palace at Kyoto which dated from the early seventeenth century Edo period. This style continued into the later-nineteenth-century Meiji period, as at the Imperial Villa at Nikko. Although only invoked in the window screen at Hiroshima, the imagery of Katsura much more easily reflected the open aesthetic and lightweight steel (or timber) construction favoured by the European. When, in 1960, Kenzo Tange published Katsura, Tradition and Creation in Japanese Architecture, the journal The Japan Architect observed:


No other building in Japan holds such deep meaning for the people of the West. It is a marvellous evocation of all the richness and variety, the delicacy and colour, of ancient Japan and a vital force in today's world of art.

The introduction to the book was provided by Walter Gropius who discussed Katsura's relevance to the West, commending to all students of art and architecture its ‘sublime, mature solutions of the intricate problems of space and human scale — the very media for the art of architectural creation.’
  In another cartoon of 1965, Kenchku Bunka suggested that the wholesale reinterpretation of Katsura in lightweight steel and cross-bracing wires might not be such a good idea.

In an article entitled, “Creation in Present-day Architecture and the Japanese Architectural Tradition”,
 published in Sinkentiku in 1956, Tange explained how these very divergent influences came about. He identifies in Japanese culture two almost contradictory strains, that of the early Yayoi period and that of the later Muromachi period.
  The architecture of the former, consisting of structures with raised floor and pitched roofs, became the houses of the ruling aristocracy and their places of worship, such as the shrines at Ise. Characteristically weighty and naïve, this architecture experienced no development and stagnated almost from the point of its introduction. A millennium later the Muromachi period produced the lightweight Shoin style of Katsura and Nikko characterised by the tokonoma, tatami (mats), and fusuma and shoji (screens). Whereas the former demonstrated a robust if stagnant attitude towards the outside world, the latter represented a withdrawal from it towards the inner self. Due to Japan’s self-enforced isolation this rarefied architecture evolved and survived untroubled until the country opened up to the west just before the start of the Meiji period in 1868.

Tange’s understanding of Japanese traditional form was profound. In the Sumi Memorial Hall (1955-57) at Ichinomiya he drew his historic references from neither the azekura nor the sukiya style, but from the defensive architecture of a shogunate castle complex of the seventeenth-century Edo period, such as the Nijo Castle at Kyoto. [Illustration 3]  Set behind battered concrete walls, this low, almost triangular building presents an impenetrable façade to the surrounding streets but opens up within to display an enclosed garden flanked by a two-storey administrative building on one side and a single-storey assembly hall on the other. A perforated namako wall
 separates the central garden from the almost subterranean entrance court which is roofed over with oppressively heavy concrete beams supported on oversized columns; another namako wall is introduced on the north side of the building, below the administrative offices, to allow ventilation to the rooms beneath. Once again one is reminded of Le Corbusier, this time the offices at the pilgrimage chapel of Notre Dame de Haut at Ronchamp (1954), where the walls are battered, the structure oppressive and the windows and water-spouts expressed self-consciously against the plain façades. Tange, it is clear, was well aware of the allusions which his architecture, and this building in particular, was making. Speaking at the University of Hawaii in 1959, he said:


Lightness or openness or spaciousness in the physical and psychological meaning cannot satisfy people’s energies or desires … People want castles where they live in. They want castles where they work in. They want eternal and more durable feeling. They do not want weakness or tentativeness, but this weak and tentative feeling that we have in our tradition sometimes appears in the so-called modern architecture of the world.

The same sense of robust, assertive strength is clear in the City Hall (1958-60) at Kurashiki. [Illustration 4. ]  Seen in its original context of a close-knit urban grid of one and two-storey lightweight timber structures, its almost oppressive appearance must have been startling. Robin Boyd describes how the delegates and clerks who used the building found it unsettling but blamed themselves for not appreciating it.
  As an administrative building it immediately recalls Le Corbusier’s Secretariat (1958) and Assembly (1961) building at Chandigarh, in the Punjab, although it is neither as long as the one or as massive as the other. Internally, the centrally-placed entrance hall appears over-wrought, the ceremonial stairs which lead only to offices having some of the quality of the ramped circulation at Le Corbusier’s Temps Nouveau Pavilion in Paris. And the heavy wall behind, with its deeply cut, battered perforations immediately recalls the interior of the chapel at Ronchamp. Yet this is a thoroughly Japanese building. In the scale of the city it reads like an acropolis:  the way the council chamber penetrates the roof structure to provide a raked, open-air theatre space suggests the presence of a smaller and perhaps incomplete structure, a ruined castle or tenshu, a reference which would have been evocative in the years following the War.
  It was a conceit which Tange used elsewhere, such as in the sweeping roof canopy of the Rikkyo University Library (1959-61) in Tokyo, to imply historical forms, in this case both the tenshu and the Shinto arch. At Kurashiki, as at the Kagawa Prefectural Government Offices, Tange employed the azekura style, the great beams of concrete interlocking like fingers at the corners of the building. And yet the use of structure is not just metaphorical, for it is functionally explicit, ordering and articulating the arrangement of the building as post-and-beam construction would. The paired beam-ends which sub-divide the long elevation mark out both the location of the stairs and toilet facilities as well as defining the extent of the double-height entrance hall and the council chamber above. Although the board-marked concrete has now been over-painted and its imitation of the raw woodwork of the great timber temples compromised, the up-turned form of the cusped gable or the Shinto arch can still be detected in the welcoming gesture of the entrance canopy.

Tange was not alone in his use of traditional forms in modern architecture. 

Junzo Sakakura, whose Japanese pavilion had caused such interest at the 1936 International Exhibition in Paris, built the City Hall at Hashima (1958) at the same time as Tange was building his at Kurashiki. [Illustration 5]  Like Tange, he drew upon a vocabulary of heavy-weight materials, concrete frame and load-bearing brick, to provide a solution still suggestive of traditional timber structures. Once more, the conceit of the tenshu is apparent, a sweeping roof-top structure visible atop a heavy base. As at Paris, Sakakura once again uses ramps to articulate movement through the building with the effect of emphasising the way in which the building apparently floats over its surrounding moat whose water almost laps the ground floor windows. The once-open, park-like setting of this building was important for it made the building part of its landscape. This reverential use of the landscape in Japanese architecture is a familiar trope and this Sakakura had employed at the Museum of Modern Art in Kamakura (1951). [Illustration 6]    Designed to contain the first public collection of modern art in Japan, this building, like the City Hall at Hashima, rises out of a lake but unlike that building, adopts the lightweight form of the sukiya style, expressed in steel columns and asbestos-cement panels. Square on plan and set around an elevated, open-air central courtyard which is approached by an external stair, this building is, nevertheless, a continuation of the architecture which Sakakura had learned when working for Le Corbusier in the 1930s, the white villas of the International Style.  
When, in 1955, Le Corbusier was invited to build the National Museum of Western Art in Ueno Park, Tokyo, he stipulated that the three Japanese architects who had worked for him, Kunio Maekawa, Junzo Sakakura and Takamasa Yoshizaka, should assist with the building. [Illustration 7]  None had really broken away from his influence. Maekawa’s Harumi Apartments in Tokyo (1958) drew unreservedly upon Le Corbusier’s Unité d’habitation at Marseilles (1952); Sakakura’s new Hashimi City Hall responded, in its context and use of open space, to Le Corbusier’s notions of civic democracy; and Yoshizaka’s Villa CouCou
 in Yoyogi, Tokyo (1957), and his designs for a house for Mr M
 in Denenchofu, Tokyo (1957), looked, respectively, towards Le Corbusier’s chapel at Ronchamp and his Maisons Jaoul in Paris (1956). The influence of Le Corbusier weaves through their architecture yet, even when seen through that filter, it remains recogniseably Japanese. Tange’s work, on the other hand, whilst often appearing Corbusian, is always seen through the filter of traditional Japanese architecture.

It is through this same filter that the National Museum of Western Art can be seen. Ignoring, for a moment, how the building actually works, there are one or two broad gestures which are immediately familiar. The first is the raised structure, Le Corbusier’s piloti on the one hand but also, perhaps, the weightiness of the asekura style. The second is the non-structural panelled façade which, as at Sakakura’s Museum of Modern Art in Kamakura, wraps the building like shoji. Finally there is the idea of the tenshu, for here again the great mass of the base seems to support another structure above — the tent-like, pyramidal skylight penetrating the roof above the central core around which the spiral circulation path moves. These might be no more than fanciful observations, but observations they are, for they suggest the power of allusion in post-War Japanese architecture and the difficulty of separating tradition from modernity and consequently the occident from the orient.
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